COUNCIL PROCEDURE BYLAW, 2018

Bylaw No. <u>2800-2018</u>

Page i

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Pa	age
TAE	BLE OF CONTENTS	i
1.	<u>CITATION</u>	1
2.	INTERPRETATION	1
3.	APPLICATION OF RULES AND PROCEDURE	1
4.	SCHEDULES	2
(a)	The following schedules are attached to and form part of this Bylaw:	2
(i)	Schedule "A": Definitions;	2
(ii)	Schedule "B": Council Meetings;	2
(iii)	Schedule "C": Designation of Member to Act in Place of Mayor;	2
(iv)	Schedule "D": Council Proceedings;	2
(v)	Schedule "E": Bylaws;	2
(vi)	Schedule "F": Expulsion from Council Meetings;	2
(vii)	Schedule "G": Executive Committee of Council; and	2
(viii)	Schedule "H": Committee of the Whole	2
5.	REPEAL	2
SCH	HEDULE "A" – DEFINITIONS	3
SCH	HEDULE "B" - COUNCIL MEETINGS	5
;	1. INAUGURAL MEETING	5 5 6
SCH	HEDULE "C" - DESIGNATION OF MEMBER TO ACT IN PLACE OF MAYOR	7
٠	1. DESIGNATION OF MEMBER TO ACT IN PLACE OF MAYOR	7
SCH	HEDULE "D" - COUNCIL PROCEEDINGS	8
	1. COMMUNITY CHARTER PROVISIONS 2. ATTENDANCE OF PUBLIC AT MEETINGS. 3. MINUTES OF MEETINGS TO BE MAINTAINED AND AVAILABLE TO PUBLIC 4. CALLING MEETING TO ORDER	8 8 9 9
	8. LATE ITEMS	.10

COUNCIL PROCEDURE BYLAW, 2018

	Bylaw No. <u>2800-2018</u>	Page i
	TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)	
11.	VOTING AT MEETINGS. POINTS OF ORDER. CONDUCT AND DEBATE PROCEDURES FOR MOTIONS. MOTIONS GENERALLY MOTION TO COMMIT. MOTION FOR THE MAIN QUESTION AMENDMENTS GENERALLY. NOTICE OF MOTION. INADMISSIBLE MOTIONS. PRIVILEGE RECONSIDERATION BY COUNCIL MEMBER. ADJOURNMENT.	13 16 16 17 17 18 18
SCHED	ULE "E" – BYLAWS	21
1. 2. 3. 4. 5.	COPIES OF PROPOSED BYLAWS TO COUNCIL MEMBERS	21 21
SCHED	ULE "F" - EXPULSION FROM COUNCIL MEETINGS	24
1.	EXPULSION FROM COUNCIL MEETINGS	24
SCHED	ULE "G" - EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF COUNCIL	25
1. 2. 3. 4. 5.	AUTHORITY OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE CHAIRING OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING TIME AND LOCATION OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETINGS NOTICE OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETINGS EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MEETING PROCEEDINGS. AGENDA.	
SCHED	ULE "H" - COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE	27
1. 2. 3. 4. 5.	AUTHORITY OF COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE	
O.	AULINDA	

COUNCIL PROCEDURE BYLAW, 2018

Bylaw No. 2800-2018

Page 14

SCHEDULE "D" (continued)

12. CONDUCT AND DEBATE

- (a) A Council Member may speak to a question or Motion at a Council meeting only if that Member first addresses the Chair.
- (b) Members must address the Chair by that person's title of "Mayor", "Deputy Mayor", "Acting Mayor", or "Councillor".
- (c) Members must address other non-Chairs by the title "Councillor".
- (d) A Member must not interrupt a Member who is speaking except to raise a point of order.
- (e) A Member must not engage in bullying or harassing behaviour in respect of a Council Member, Government Official or a City employee, which includes, but is not limited to:
 - (i) expressing a negative opinion about the personality or character of a Council Member, Government Official or City employee;
 - (ii) speaking disrespectfully about a Council Member, a Government Official or a City employee;
 - (iii) speaking or acting aggressively towards a Council Member, a Government Official or a City employee;
 - (iv) using offensive gestures or signs;
 - (v) questioning the motives of a Council Member, Government Official or City employee;
 - (vi) using rude or offensive language or engaging in rude or offensive conduct;
 - (vii) disrupting or unnecessarily delaying the conduct of business at the Council Meeting; or
 - (viii) speaking on electronic communication devices when a person or Council Member is speaking, except in the case of emergencies.
- (f) If more than one (1) Member speaks at the same time, the Chair must call on the Member who, in the Chair's opinion, first spoke.
- (g) Members who are called to order by the Chair:
 - (i) must immediately stop speaking;
 - (ii) may explain their position on the point of order; and

COUNCIL PROCEDURE BYLAW, 2018

Bylaw No. 2800-2018

Page 15

SCHEDULE "D" (continued)

- (iii) may appeal to Council for its decision on the point of order.
- (h) Members speaking at a Council meeting:
 - (i) must speak only in connection with the matter being debated;
 - (ii) may speak about a vote of Council only for the purpose of making a Motion that the vote is rescinded; and
 - (iii) must adhere to the rules of procedure established under this Bylaw and to the decisions of the Chair and Council in connection with the rules and points of order.
- (i) If a Member does not adhere to Subsection (h), the Chair may order the Member to leave the Member's seat and in the event the Member:
 - (i) refuses to leave, the Chair may cause the Member to be removed by a peace officer from the Member's seat; or
 - (ii) apologizes to the Council, Council may, by resolution, allow the Member to retake the Member's seat.
- (j) A Member may require the question being debated at a Council meeting to be read at any time during the debate if that does not interrupt another Member who is speaking.
- (k) The following rules apply to limit speech on matters being considered at a Council meeting:
 - (i) a Member may speak no more than twice for a maximum of five (5) minutes total in connection with the same questions, unless:
 - (1) the Chair permits the Member to speak more than twice, or
 - (2) if the Member is explaining a material part of a previous speech without introducing a new matter;
 - (ii) a Member who has made a substantive Motion to the Council may reply to the debate;
 - (iii) a Member who moved a Motion under consideration may open and close debate on the matter; and
 - (iv) a Member who has moved an amendment, the previous question, or an instruction to a Committee may not reply to the debate.



POLICY STATEMENT

DIRECTOR CODE OF CONDUCT POLICY

Purpose

The Local Government Act and Community Charter sets out the powers given to local government. The Community Charter also establishes ethical standards for elected officials, including issues related to conflict of interest.

Building on the provisions of the *Community Charter*, this Code of Conduct establishes further standards for the Chair and Directors of the Regional District Board and is designed to ensure that Board members aspire to the highest standards of public service integrity.

A. Conduct at Meetings

At all meetings directors shall conduct themselves with decorum in accordance with the provisions of the Peace River Regional District Board's Procedural Bylaw. Respect for delegations, fellow members and staff requires that all members show courtesy and not distract from the business of the Regional District during presentations and when other members have the floor.

B. Conduct of a Political Nature

No director shall use Regional District facilities, services or property for his / her election or re-election campaign. No member shall use the services of Regional District employees for his / her election or re-election campaign, during hours in which the employees are in the paid employment of the Regional District

C. Conduct Respecting Directors

Directors shall be respectful to fellow directors during discussion and debate at meetings. Directors shall acknowledge that with twelve minds, there are twelve opinions, each equal at the Board table. At the conclusion of discussion and debate, the Board opinion shall be with the majority.

D. Conduct Respecting Staff

Directors shall be respectful of the fact that, with the exception of the Chair's duties as the CEO under the *Local Government Act*, staff work for the Regional District as a body corporate and are charged with making recommendations that reflect their professional expertise and corporate perspective, without undue influence from any individual director or group of directors. Directors shall be respectful of the fact that staff carry out directions of the Board and administer the policies of the Regional District, and are required to do so without any undue influence from any individual director or group of directors. Accordingly, no director shall maliciously or falsely injure the professional or ethical reputation, or the prospects or practice of staff, and all directors shall show respect for the professional capacities of the staff of the Peace River Regional District.

DISTRICT OF NORTH SAANICH

SECTION NO.	SECTION NAME:	POLICY NO.
1000	LEGISLATIVE	1002.12
SUBJECT:	CODE OF ETHICS AND CONDUCT I	FOR COUNCIL

The purpose of the Code of Ethics and Conduct is as follows:

- 1) To provide guidance to Council so as to ensure that each are accorded reasonable and fair treatment;
- 2) To assist Council members in avoiding problems relating to role problems;
- 3) To preserve the integrity of the Council and administration;
- 4) To protect the individual rights of Council and administration as normal citizens.

These guidelines are additional to any requirements at law and do not excuse any member from complying with any common law or statue law. (235/04)

1.0 Primary Focus

Both Council and its administration recognize that their allegiance and loyalties are to the community as a whole and not to any individual(s) or group(s).

2.0 Relationship between Members of Council and its Administration

Each Council member shall ensure that their behaviour towards other members of Council and the administration is based on the following principles:

- 1) Respect for the right of others to offer their opinion;
- 2) Tolerance for viewpoints which may be at odds with those of others;
- 3) Respect for views and opinions which may well be in the minority;
- 4) Respect for the role of the CAO as the key employee of Council and its chief policy advisor.
- 5) Respect for the right of the administration to present reports and advice which may not be that which is acceptable to Council.

3.0 Fair Treatment for Those Presenting to Council

Each person presenting to Council will be afforded fair treatment by all members of Council who will seek to ensure that:

1) Presenters are treated fairly regardless of race, gender, religion, age, disability or occupation;

- 2) Presenters are dealt with in good faith;
- 3) Presenters are given an adequate time in which to present their views;
- 4) Presenters are treated without bias and are accorded respect for their time and views.

4.0 Chairman of Meetings

The Mayor (or chair of meeting) will not tolerate:

- 1) Discourtesy by one member to another member:
- 2) Rudeness to members of staff or to the public;
- 3) Disruptive behaviour.

The Mayor (or chair of the meeting) should personally speak to any member guilty of such behaviour requesting that they desist from such remarks or behaviour. If necessary, the chair shall call a brief recess and speak in private to the offending parties.

5.0 Authority and Powers

Each member of Council will respect the legislation which accords to Council as a whole the authority to make decisions which guide the actions of the administration. This authority is vested in Council when it is convened as a body at a duly constituted meeting. Council members will therefore refrain from attempting to guide or influence individual members of the administration.

6.0 Requests for Information

Council members will direct their requests for information or action to the office of the CAO (unless otherwise delegated to a member of staff by the CAO). If the matter is subject to a current Council policy, the administration will respond as quickly as possible in filling the request. If the request is not covered by a current policy, it will be forwarded to the CAO who will place the matter before Council to receive its direction.

7.0 Conflict of Interest

Neither Council members nor members of the administration will act in such a way as to constitute a conflict of interest. All residents will be treated equally. Decisions on matters of pecuniary interest (either direct or indirect) which impact family members in a way not consistent with the population as a whole will be deferred pending the advice of the municipality's solicitor. In this, as in all matters, the legislation will prevail.

8.0 Council Spokesperson

The official decisions of Council will be conveyed to the public and all others by way of Council resolutions, bylaws and policies. These decisions will be conveyed by the Mayor (or his designate) to the media as directed by the official

Council decision. Any other comments on Council positions by any other member of Council which are not consistent with the official positions should be prefaced as personal opinion only.

9.0 Public Statements

A member is not restricted in any public statement they choose to make, but as a member of the Council they are expected to:

- 1) Support the role of the Council; and
- Support the current policies, bylaws and resolutions of the District of North Saanich.

Any requests by the media to the administration for comment or information on matters pertaining to a matter within the jurisdiction of the Council and not yet subject to an approved policy should be immediately referred to the CAO and through him to the Mayor.

10.0 Acceptance of Gifts

Pursuant to Section 105 & 106 of the Community Charter a member is expected to avoid any actual or reasonable apprehension of bias in the acceptance of gifts and shall:

- 1) Accept only those gifts of protocol or social obligation that occur in normal business relationships; and,
- 2) Not accept a fee, gift or other benefit that is connected directly or indirectly with the performance of the member's office.

11.0 Bribery

A member is to be alert to any attempt of bribery and shall:

- 1) Reject bribery in any form;
- Report any attempt or perceived attempt to bribe a member to the CAO; and
- 3) Report any bullying or intimidation intended on influencing a member.

12.0 Family Bias

A member is expected to avoid any actual or reasonable apprehension of bias in the dealings with relatives not defined as family and shall avoid any actual or reasonable apprehension of bias when acting as a member of Council.

13.0 Treatment of Others

Each member shall ensure that their behaviour towards other Council members, the CAO and members of the administration, consultants, lawyers, the public and/or their agents is at all times:

1) Courteous, professional, fair and unbiased;

- 2) Contributes to the preservation of orderly decorum;
- 3) Avoids sarcasm, derogatory comments, or questions or comments designed to embarrass;
- 4) Respectful of the rulings and direction of the Chair; and,
- 5) Where a member is the Chair, they shall be responsible to immediately rule such behaviour out of order and require the offending member to offer an apology to all present at the hearing.

Each member has a responsibility to ensure that all persons appearing before or otherwise having dealings with Council are:

- 1) Treated fairly regardless of race, gender, religion, age, disability or occupation;
- 2) Dealt with in good faith;
- 3) Dealt with without bias and in a judicial temper; and,
- 4) Given an adequate opportunity to state their case.

14.0 Confidentiality

Each member shall retain in confidence any matters presented to the Council in camera until such time as that matter has been determined by Council resolution to be a public matter.

15.0 Partisan Politics

Council members are entitled to serve as members of provincial or federal parties.

Council members will not allow their party affiliation or responsibilities to interfere with the requirements and responsibilities of serving this District as a member of Council.

Council members will not engage in political activities in the District Hall or at any event sponsored by the District or by one of its commissions or committees.

Council members are not to use their office to comment on other politicians.

16.0 Adherence to Code, Charter, Act and Procedures

Each member shall:

- 1) Adhere to all aspects of this code of ethics;
- 2) Adhere to the requirements of the Municipal Act and/or the Community Charter;
- 3) Adhere to the provincial guidelines provided for by the Council's approved Procedural Bylaw; and,
- 4) Adhere to the requirements of Council policies and procedures.

CARIBOO REGIONAL DISTRICT CODE OF CONDUCT AND ETHICS

This Code of Conduct establishes guidelines for the conduct of Board members and assists in providing for the good governance of the Cariboo Regional District.

PREAMBLE

In keeping with the Cariboo Regional District's *Mission Statement and Corporate Values*, the Regional District seeks to maintain and enhance the quality of life for all Regional District residents through effective, responsible and responsive government. To help achieve this goal, members of the Board of Directors (Directors) have committed to strive to ensure that:

- They conscientiously represent the electoral area or municipality they serve while seeking to advance the common good of the region as a whole;
- public business is conducted with integrity in a fair, honest and open manner;
- they perform the functions of office truly, faithfully and impartially to the best of their knowledge and ability exhibiting the personal values of *integrity* giving the region's interests priority over private individual interests; *honesty* being truthful and open; *objectivity* making decisions based on a careful and fair analysis of the facts; *accountability* being accountable to each other and to the public for decisions taken; and *leadership* confronting challenges and providing direction on the issues of the day;
- they treat one another, the public and staff and recognize the unique role and contribution each person has in making the Regional District a better place to work and live;
- their conduct in the performance of their duties and responsibilities with the Regional District is above reproach;
- as elected leaders, they hold themselves and their fellow Directors to the highest standard of behavior and conduct:
- decision-making processes are accessible, participatory, understandable, timely, and just, in addition to satisfying the requirements of applicable legislation; and.
- they uphold this Code as a means of promoting the standards of behavior expected of Board members to enhance the credibility and integrity of the Cariboo Regional District throughout the region.
- they promote respectful workplaces that are collaborative and inclusive, that encourage diversity, and that encourage open and robust communication at all times.

APPLICATION OF THE CODE:

1. Public Interest

Directors recognize that they are agents of the public whose primary objective is to address the needs of the citizens.

All members of the Board shall faithfully work toward developing programs to address the needs of the citizens in the course of their duties. Each shall strive to perform at a level that is expected of those who work in the public's interest.

2. Comply with the Law

Directors shall comply with all applicable federal, provincial, and local laws in the performance of their public duties. These laws include, but are not limited to: *the Constitution Act, the Provincial Human Rights Code, the Criminal Code, the Community Charter and the Local Government Act*; laws pertaining to financial disclosures and employer responsibilities; and relevant Regional District bylaws and policies.

3. Conduct of Directors

As public servants, Board members shall observe a high standard of morality in the conduct of their official duties and faithfully fulfill the responsibilities of their offices, regardless of their personal or financial interests.

The conduct of Directors in the performance of their duties and responsibilities with the Regional District must be fair, open and honest.

All Directors will treat one another, Regional District staff and the public with dignity and respect. Directors shall refrain from abusive conduct, intimidating or demeaning behaviour, personal charges or verbal attacks upon the character or motives of other Directors, Regional District staff or the public.

4. Respect for Process

Directors shall perform their duties in accordance with the policies and procedures and rules of order established by the Regional District governing the deliberation of public policy issues, meaningful involvement of the public, and implementation of policy decisions of the Board by Regional District staff.

All Directors will respect the decisions of the Board, even if they disagree with such decisions.

5. Meetings

Directors shall prepare themselves for meetings, listen courteously and attentively to all discussions before the body, and focus on the business at hand. Cell phones and blackberries should be turned off during meetings, however, if an urgent matter necessitates that a Director take a call or respond to an email during the meeting, the cell phone or blackberry

shall be kept on silent or vibrate and the Director shall immediately leave the meeting to respond to the call or email.

Directors shall make every effort to participate diligently in the activities of the Board and any other committees, agencies or organizations to which they have been appointed by the Board or by virtue of holding the office of an elected official.

Directors shall treat with respect the Chair, colleagues, staff and members of the public present during Board meetings or other Regional District proceedings. They shall not interrupt other speakers, make personal comments or comments not germane to the business of the body, or otherwise disturb a meeting. Meetings shall provide an environment for transparent and healthy debate on matters requiring deliberation by the Board.

6. Decisions Based on Merit

Directors shall base their decisions on the merits and substance of the matter at hand, rather than on unrelated circumstances.

Directors shall share with the Board all substantive information that is relevant to a matter under consideration by them which they may have received from sources outside of the public decision-making process. Where a Director may have a concern about information received, the Director may first discuss the information with the Chief Administrative Officer.

7. Communication and Media Relations

Directors will accurately communicate the decisions of the Board, even if they disagree with the majority decision of the Board. The Director may state that he/she voted against a decision but will refrain from making disparaging comments about other Directors or the Board's decision and by doing so will affirm the respect for and integrity in the decision making process of the Board.

8. Conflict of Interest

Directors shall be aware of their responsibilities under Section 787.1 of the *Local Government Act* and Division 6 of Part 4 of the *Community Charter* and shall fulfill the requirements of the legislation to ensure the decision making process is not compromised by a conflict of interest.

9. Gifts and Favours

Directors shall not accept gifts or favours of any kind whether received in the present or in the future, from a person having, or seeking to have dealings with the Regional District, save appropriate refreshments or meals, except where such a gift or favour is authorized by law, or where such gifts or favours are received as an incident of the protocol, social obligation or common business hospitality that accompany the duties and responsibilities of the Director.

A Director may participate in Regional District programs open to the public and may purchase Regional District property or goods offered for public sale.

10. Improper Use of Influence

No Director shall use the influence of his or her office for any purpose other than for the exercise of his/her official duties.

A Director must not attempt to influence a decision, recommendation or other action:

- at a meeting or other activity where the Director has a conflict of interest;
- in the preparation of staff reports or recommendations;
- in the execution of work delegated to staff, other Directors, or Committees by the Board; or
- of other persons or bodies where the Director may have a pecuniary interest in a matter under consideration.

Directors will respect the integrity of the procurement processes and will not show favoritism or bias toward any vendor, contractor or to others doing business with the Region.

11. Confidential Information

Directors shall be aware of their responsibilities under Section 787.1 of the *Local Government Act* and Section 117 of Division 1 of Part 5 of the *Community Charter* and shall fulfill the requirements of the legislation.

No Director shall disclose or release to any member of the public, confidential information acquired by virtue of their office, in either oral or written form except when required by law or authorized by the Board to do so.

No Director shall disclose the substance of deliberations of an in-camera meeting until the Board discusses the information at a meeting that is open to the public or releases the information to the public.

They shall neither disclose confidential information without proper authorization, nor use such information to advance their personal, financial or other private interests.

Confidential information includes discussion regarding the property, personnel or legal affairs of the Region and information provided by a third party on a confidential basis. Confidential information also includes, but is not limited to information:

- Disclosed or discussed at an In-Camera Meeting of the Board;
- That is circulated to Directors and marked "confidential"; or
- That is given verbally in confidence in preparation for or following an in-camera meeting.

12. Access to Information

Directors have the same access rights to Regional District information as any other resident of the Region, unless the information relates specifically to a matter before the Board.

Informal requests for access to information should be referred through the CAO for distribution to appropriate staff unless the request is strictly a technical clarification of information in which case a Director may approach other department heads directly.

When Directors request information from staff that would constitute more than a technical clarification, the response will be provided to all Directors so that all Directors have access to the same information, unless the information is provided through a formal *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (FIPPA)* request.

Where a Director requests information that would not normally be readily available to the public except through the provisions of FIPPA, Directors have the right to utilize the provisions of the *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (FIPPA)*.

13. Use of Public Resources

Directors shall not use Regional District resources which are not available to the public in general, such as staff time, equipment, supplies, websites, facilities or other property, other than for purposes connected with the discharge of Regional District duties and in no case for personal convenience or profit, except where such privileges are granted to the general public.

14. Advocacy

It is recognized that Directors play a dual role of representing the interests of their respective taxpayers, while recognizing the benefits of regional collaboration and cooperation within the democratic process of decision making as a regional entity. All members of the Board shall respect the diverse interests of its citizenry and the role of Directors to balance the views of their respective jurisdictions with that of other jurisdictions. As such, a Director may oppose a decision of the Board that does not reflect the values or wishes of his/her particular electoral area or municipality. While it is not anticipated that all decisions will be unanimous, it is recognized that the decisions of the Board will be the only position portrayed as a corporate decision.

To that end, Directors shall represent the official policies or positions of the Regional District to the best of their ability when designated as delegates for this purpose. Directors shall observe a high standard of professionalism when representing the Regional District and in their dealings with members of the broader community.

When presenting their individual opinions and positions, Directors shall expressly state that the views are their own and do not represent the views of the Regional District. Directors shall not use Regional District letterhead for personal matters or to convey an opinion on any matter not specifically approved by the Board (i.e. Letter to the Editor).

15. Election Campaign Work

No Directors shall undertake campaign related activities on Regional District property during regular working hours unless specifically organized by the Regional District (ie candidate procedures, all candidate orientation, etc.).

Directors shall not use any Regional District property for campaign work including Regional District photocopiers, computers, email lists, etc.

16. Policy Role

Directors shall respect and adhere to the corporate structure of local government as practiced in the Cariboo Regional District. In this structure, the Regional District Board makes policy decisions while the Regional District staff provide advice and recommendations to the Board and implement the policy decisions of the Board.

In practical terms, there are distinct and specialized roles carried out by the Board as a whole and by individual Directors when performing their other roles. These roles include dealing with constituents and the general public, and participating on various committees, commissions or other agencies to which the Director may be appointed.

Similarly, there are distinct and specialized roles expected of staff both in carrying out their responsibilities and in dealing with the Board. Staff are accountable to the Chief Administrative Officer and the Chief Administrative Officer is accountable to the Board. As such, it is inappropriate for Directors to involve themselves in matters of administration, departmental management, personnel or other administrative responsibilities that fall within the jurisdiction of the Chief Administrative Officer.

The Board as a whole, and not individual Directors, gives direction to staff through Board decisions. The Chief Administrative Officer directs administrative staff and oversees the implementation of Board decisions. Accordingly, Directors shall not request staff to undertake work that has not been expressly authorized by the Board. Directors shall submit such requests directly to the Board or, where the Director believes the request is of a minor nature consistent with corporate policies, to the Chief Administrative Officer who shall determine if the request can be accommodated without compromising other Board-approved directives or if the request needs to be referred to the Board for consideration of resource allocation.

Directors shall not interfere with the administrative functions of the Regional District or with the professional duties of Regional District staff; nor shall they impair the ability of staff to implement Board policy decisions. Any concerns Directors may have regarding the implementation of Board policy decisions shall be directed to the Chief Administrative Officer.

17. Positive Environment

Directors shall treat other Board members, the public and Regional District staff with respect and shall be supportive of the personal dignity, self-esteem and well being of those with whom they come in contact during the course of their professional duties.

Directors have a duty to treat members of the public, one another, and staff appropriately and without abuse, bullying or intimidation, and to ensure that the Regional District environment is free from discrimination and harassment.

18. Relations with Staff

Directors shall acknowledge and respect the fact that staff work for the Regional District as a corporate body and are responsible for making recommendations that reflect their professional expertise and corporate objectives. Directors should expect a high quality of

advice from staff based on political neutrality and objectivity irrespective of party politics or their personal opinions and without undue influence from any individual Director or faction of the Board.

Directors shall refrain from publicly criticizing individual members of staff in a way that casts aspersions on their professional competence and credibility.

No Director shall maliciously or falsely injure the professional or ethical reputation, or the prospects or practice of staff, and all Directors shall show respect for the professional capacities of staff.

No Director shall compel staff to engage in political activities or be subjected to threats or discrimination for refusing to engage in such activities. Nor shall any Director use, or attempt to use, their authority or influence for the purpose of intimidating, threatening, coercing, commanding or influencing any staff member in a manner that interferes with that person's duties, including the duty to disclose improper activity.

19. Reprisals and Obstruction

The Regional District will not retaliate against Directors or Regional District staff who, in good faith, report a known or suspected violation of this Code as described herein. Directors will respect the integrity of the Code of Conduct and investigations conducted under it.

Any reprisal or threat of reprisal against a complainant or anyone for providing relevant information in an investigation is, therefore, prohibited.

It is a violation of the Code of Conduct to obstruct an investigation.

20. Implementation

The Regional District's Code of Conduct and Ethics is intended to be self-enforcing. Directors should view the Code as a set of guidelines that express collectively the standards of conduct expected of them. It, therefore, becomes most effective when Directors are thoroughly familiar with the Code and embrace its provisions.

For this reason, the Code of Conduct and Ethics will be provided to candidates for Regional District elections. Persons elected to the Regional District will be requested to sign the Director's Statement affirming they have read and understand the Regional District's Code of Conduct and Ethics. The Code of Conduct and Ethics will be reviewed in detail at orientation sessions for new and returning directors following each election or by-election.

21. Compliance and Enforcement

The Regional District's Code of Conduct and Ethics expresses standards of ethical conduct expected for Directors. Directors themselves have the primary responsibility to assure that these ethical standards are understood and met, and that the public can continue to have full confidence in the integrity of the governance of the Regional District.

Part A - Informal Complaint Procedure

Individuals (ie Directors, Regional District employees, or members of the public) or organizations who identify or witness behavior or an activity by a Director that they believe is in contravention of the Code of Conduct for Cariboo Regional District Directors, may wish to address the prohibited behavior or activity themselves as follows:

- (1) Advise the Director that the behavior or activity contravenes the Code of Conduct;
- (2) Encourage the Director to stop the prohibited behavior or activity;
- (3) If unresolved, keep a written record of the incidents including dates, times, locations, other persons present, and any other relevant information; and
- (4) In the case of staff or members of the public, advise the Chief Administrative Officer and in the case of Directors, advise the Chair of the Board, about the concern, the comments made to the Director, and the response from the Director; and
- (5) Consider the need to pursue the matter in accordance with the formal complaint procedure outlined in Part B.

Individuals and organizations are encouraged to initially pursue the informal complaint procedure as a means of stopping and remedying a behavior or activity that is prohibited by the Code of Conduct, however, it is not a prerequisite to pursuing a formal complaint.

Part B – Formal Complaint Procedure

(1) Complaint and Review Request:

- a. A Director, Regional District employee, or member of the public who has reasonable and probable grounds to believe that a Director has contravened the Code of Conduct may request that the matter be formally reviewed.
- b. Formal complaints shall be signed by the complainant and submitted in writing to the Chief Administrative Officer (CAO).
- c. The complaint shall set out the grounds for the belief and the alleged contravention.
- d. Any Code of Conduct complaint against a Director received after September 1 in a general election year shall be held in abeyance until the new Board has been sworn in unless a second complaint is received during the interim in which case the normal investigation will proceed.

(2) Initial Review:

- a. The Chair and the CAO will then conduct an initial review of the matter with the complainant and the respondent.
- b. When the Chair and CAO determine that meeting with the complainant and/or respondent is required, they shall provide reasonable notice of such meetings and shall make reasonable efforts to schedule such meetings at a time that is convenient to the complainant and/or respondent. The complainant and/or respondent shall be permitted to bring a third party. Reference to a third party in this instance specifically excludes legal counsel.
- c. The following are some of the potential reasons why a matter may not be pursued:
 - i. the allegations are not within jurisdiction of the policy;
 - ii. a reasonable alternate remedy is available;

- iii. there is insufficient evidence or information;
- iv. an extensive delay or unreasonable delay (i.e. more than six months) has occurred;
- v. the complaint was made anonymously
- vi. the parties have resolved the complaint.

(3) Complaints Involving Executive Committee Member(s) or CAO:

a. In the event that a member of the Executive Committee or the CAO is a direct party to a complaint under this policy, they shall remove themselves from any role other than that of complainant or responder. In cases involving the CAO, all references to CAO contained within this policy shall be deemed to be the Deputy CAO. In the case of a complaint against the Chair, all references to Chair contained within this policy shall be deemed to be the Vice-Chair. In the case of a complaint against any other member of the Executive, the member shall remove themselves from deliberations of the Executive Committee. If more than one member of the Executive Committee is named in a complaint, the role of the Executive Committee shall be carried out by the full Board.

(4) Mediation:

- a. Where it has been determined to be feasible and where both parties concur, a mediated solution to the dispute will be attempted. A person who has mediation skills and is acceptable to the complainant and the respondent will mediate the dispute. Both parties will have the right to have another person accompany them to the mediation.
- b. Mediation may be attempted at any point in the process of dealing with a complaint where it is considered to be appropriate and have a reasonable chance of resolving the complaint.

(5) Formal Investigation:

- a. When it is not possible to resolve the complaint through discussion or mediation, a full-scale investigation will be conducted.
- b. The CAO and Chair may speak to the complainant, the Director whose conduct is in question, and any other persons relevant to the complaint for the purposes of a complete investigation. Written statements may be requested.
- c. Upon completion of the investigation, the CAO will report to the Executive Committee of the Board with recommendations for any corrective action or settlement of the complaint or shall advise the Committee that no contravention of the Code of Conduct occurred or that such contravention was trivial or inadvertent or an error in judgment made in good faith and recommend that no further action be undertaken.
- d. The Executive Committee shall determine whether the matter has been satisfactorily resolved or whether the matter needs to be referred to the Board for imposition of a formal penalty and may make recommendations as to the penalty that should be considered.
- e. Any corrective action recommended must be permitted in law and shall be designed to ensure that the inappropriate behavior or activity does not continue.
- f. Where the Executive Committee deems the matter satisfactorily resolved, the Executive Committee shall follow up with the parties after a period of three (3)

- months to ensure continued satisfaction with the outcome and/or continued progress on any agreed to courses of action and, if necessary, shall continue to monitor progress until such time as the agreed to actions are satisfactorily completed.
- g. Following discussion with the Executive Committee, the CAO shall prepare a final report which shall be provided to the complainant and to the Director whose conduct is concerned advising that either the matter is concluded or that the matter has been referred to the Board for formal consideration.
- h. The Executive Committee may graduate any complaint to the full Board at any stage of the investigation at its discretion.

(6) Frivolous or Vexatious Complaints:

- a. If the CAO is of the opinion that the nature of the complaint is frivolous, vexatious or not made in good faith, or that there are no grounds or insufficient grounds for an inquiry, the CAO may refuse to conduct an inquiry and shall state the reason for not doing so in the report to the Executive Committee.
- b. If the complaint is found to be frivolous or vexatious or not made in good faith as a result of the investigation, the CAO shall so state in the report to the Executive Committee.
- c. Complaints under the Code of Conduct are taken very seriously. As such, where a complaint is found to be frivolous, vindictive or vexatious in accordance with subsections (a) and (b) of this section or where false information has been provided, the complainant or witness providing false information shall be subject to disciplinary measures as follows:
 - i. In the case of an employee, the CAO shall undertake take appropriate disciplinary measures in accordance with the terms of the Collective Agreement.
 - ii. In the case of a Director, the Board shall undertake appropriate punitive actions in accordance with the following section.

(7) Duty of the Board:

- a. The Director shall be advised of the date of the in-camera meetings where the Board will consider the complaint and will hear the Director's response. Where the Director advises the Board that he/she is unable to attend one of the scheduled meetings, the Board shall make all reasonable efforts to consider the matter at a meeting where the Director is present. A Director will not be permitted to unnecessarily delay the process by continued unavailability.
- b. The Board shall, at the in-camera meeting of the Board (first meeting), review the report of the CAO together with copies of the complaint (and any subsequent reports from the complainant) and the statement of the Director whose conduct is being considered, as well as any recommendations from the Executive Committee.
- c. The Board shall provide the Director whose conduct is being considered with an opportunity to address the Board at the next in-camera meeting of the Board immediately following the meeting at which the complaint is first received or as soon as practical thereafter (second meeting).
- d. At the second meeting, the Board shall hear the Director's response (if any) to the allegations and shall consider what, if any, remedial action and/or penalty may be appropriate to impose.

- e. Where it is deemed appropriate to impose a penalty, the Board shall first consider whether or not the breach of this Code breaches the provisions of the *Local Government Act* or the *Community Charter* to the extent that the Director is disqualified from holding office.
- f. Where disqualification is not applicable, the Board may impose one or more of the following penalties on a Director found to be in breach of the Code of Conduct:
 - Censure:
 - Rescission of committee and other appointments; and/or
 - Suspension of the monthly remuneration paid to the Director in respect of his or her duties as a member of the Board for a period of up to 90 days.
- g. Following deliberation by the Board, the CAO shall prepare a final report which shall be provided to the complainant and to the Director whose conduct is concerned advising of the final disposition of the matter.

(8) Confidentiality:

- a. Complaints under the Code of Conduct shall be treated in confidence throughout the complaint, investigation process, Executive Committee deliberation, and initial deliberation by the Board.
- b. If the Board imposes a penalty under subsection 3(d) above, the penalty imposed shall be released to the public at the next scheduled Board meeting.

(9) Reports:

The CAO shall report annually to an open Board meeting within 90 days of the end of the calendar year on complaints received under the Code of Conduct and the disposition of such complaints. Names of complainants or directors who have been complained against but where no penalties have been assessed shall not be included in the report.

22. Impact on Board Decisions

A Violation of this Code of Conduct and Ethics shall not be considered a basis for challenging the validity of a Regional District decision.

Signature of Elected Official	Date	49.4



Regional Board Policy

CODE OF CONDUCT

APPROVED: MARCH 31, 2016

Resolution No.:#82/16

Replacing: #230/11 - Adopted October 13, 2011

Date of Last Review:

Policy No.: 2 - 2016

This Code of Conduct establishes guidelines for the conduct of Board members, staff, and advisory bodies in providing good governance for the Regional District of Central Okanagan. For the purposes of this policy, staff includes all staff and contract workers insofar as not to conflict with the Collective Agreement with our unionized workers through CUPE Local No. 338.

The Regional District seeks to be an acknowledged leader in regional governance by acting in a manner that is respectful & ethical, accountable & responsible, and transparent & open.

To help achieve this goal, the Board of Directors, staff and advisory bodies have committed to performing their functions of office truthfully, faithfully and impartially to the best of their knowledge and ability, exhibiting the following:

1. Key Values:

- i. *Integrity* Board members, staff and advisory body members are keepers of the public trust and must uphold the highest standards of ethical behaviour and are expected to:
 - make decisions that benefit the community;
 - act lawfully and within the authorities of the Regional District;
 - o be free from undue influence and not act, or appear to act, in order to gain financial or other benefits for themselves, family, friends or business interests
- ii. Accountability Board members, staff, and advisory body members are obligated to answer for a responsibility that has been entrusted to them. They are responsible for the decisions they make.
- iii. Leadership Board members, staff and advisory body members must demonstrate and promote the key principles of the Code of Conduct through their decisions, actions and behaviour. Their behaviour must build and inspire the public's trust and confidence in local government;
- iv. Responsibility Board members, staff and advisory body members must act responsibly, within the law and within the authorities of the Local Government Act. They must follow the letter and spirit of policies and procedures, and exercise all conferred power strictly for the purpose for which the powers have been conferred;
- v. Respect Board members, staff and advisory body members must conduct public business efficiently, with decorum and with proper attention to the Regional District's diversity. They must treat each other and others with respect at all times. This means not using derogatory language towards others, respecting the rights of other people, treating people with courtesy and recognizing the different roles others play in local government decision making; and
- vi. Openness Board members, staff and advisory body members have a duty to be as open as possible about their decisions and actions while respecting the need to keep confidential matters confidential.

APPLICATION OF THE CODE

2. General Conduct:

- **2.1.** Board members, staff and advisory body members must adhere to the key values and provisions of the Code of Conduct;
- **2.2.** Board members, staff and advisory body members must comply with all applicable federal, provincial, and local laws in the performance of their public duties. These laws include, but are not limited to:
 - 2.2.1. the Constitution Act of Canada,
 - 2.2.2. the Provincial Human Rights Code,
 - 2.2.3. the Criminal Code.
 - 2.2.4. the Local Government Act.
 - 2.2.5. the Community Charter,
 - 2.2.6. laws pertaining to financial disclosures and employer responsibilities, and
 - 2.2.7. all relevant Regional District bylaws and policies.
- **2.3.** Board members, staff and advisory body members have an obligation to consider issues consistently and fairly;
- 2.4. Board members, staff and advisory body members will treat one another and the public with dignity and respect. They must also refrain from abusive conduct, intimidating or demeaning behaviour, or verbal attacks upon the character, professionalism or motives of others;
- 2.5. When making decisions, Board members, staff and advisory body members must consider all relevant facts, opinions and analysis of which they should be reasonably aware:
- **2.6.** Board members, staff and advisory body members are obliged to question any request to act or make a decision that they think may be unethical or unlawful;
- 2.7. Staff and advisory body members must carry out their duties in a manner that allows the Regional Board members to remain informed about local government activities and practices;
- **2.8.** Should there be uncertainty about the ethical issues around a conduct or decision, Board members, staff, and advisory body members should consider the following:
 - 2.8.1. Is the conduct or decision lawful?
 - 2.8.2. Is the conduct or decision consistent with RDCO policy, Board objectives and the Code of Conduct?
 - 2.8.3. Will the outcome of the decision or conduct provide a private benefit for the individual, family, friends or business interests?
 - 2.8.4. Can the decision or conduct be justified in terms of the public interest and would it withstand public scrutiny?

3. Meetings

Board members, staff and advisory body members shall prepare themselves for meetings, listen courteously and attentively to all discussions before the body, and focus on the business at hand. Cell phones should be turned off during meetings, however, if an urgent matter necessitates that a Director respond to an email during the meeting, the cell phone shall be kept on silent or vibrate.

Board members, staff and advisory body members shall not interrupt other speakers, make personal comments or comments not germane to the business of the body, or otherwise disturb a meeting. Meetings shall provide an environment for transparent and healthy debate on matters requiring deliberation by the Board.

4. Communication and Media Relations

The Regional Board Chair is the spokesperson for the Regional District on Board matters. The CAO or his/her designate is the spokesperson for the Regional District on administrative and operational matters.

Board members, staff and advisory body members will accurately communicate the decisions of the Board, even if they disagree with the majority decision of the Board. A Director may state that he/she voted against a decision but will refrain from making disparaging comments about other Directors or the Board's decision itself. By doing so will affirm the respect for and integrity of the decision making process of the Regional Board.

5. Conflict of Interest

- 5.1. Board members, staff and advisory body members are expected to make decisions that benefit the community. They are to be free from undue influence and not act or appear to act in order to gain financial or other benefits for themselves, family, friends or business interests;
- **5.2.** A conflict exists when an individual is, or could be, influenced or appear to be influenced, by a personal interest, financial (pecuniary) or otherwise, when carrying out their public duty. Personal interest can include direct or indirect pecuniary interest, bias, pre-judgement, closemindedness or undue influence;
- 5.3. Board members, staff and advisory body members must appropriately resolve any conflict or incompatibility between their personal interests and the impartial performance of their public or professional duties in accordance with statutory requirements. When considering whether or not a conflict of interest exists, it is important to consider whether there are any grounds for a reasonable person to think that a conflict exists;
- **5.4.** Staff must fully disclose to their supervisor or the Chief Administrative Officer any direct or indirect pecuniary interest or any bias or undue influence with respect to any matter they are dealing with as soon as practical;
- **5.5.** Advisory body members must fully disclose to the Chief Administrative Officer any direct or indirect pecuniary interest, any bias or undue influence with respect to any matter they are dealing with immediately;
- **5.6.** When staff or advisory board members are uncertain whether a conflict exists, the situation must be immediately presented to the Chief Administrative Officer for guidance;

- **5.7.** Board members, staff and advisory body members must not use Confidential Information gained through their official position for the purpose of securing a private benefit for themselves or for any other person;
- **5.8.** Examples of conflicts that may be encountered by Board members, staff and advisory body members include but are not limited to:
 - 5.8.1. <u>Obligation to others:</u> Board members, staff and advisory body members must not place themselves in a situation where they may be under obligation to someone who has business dealings with the Regional District, and who would benefit from special consideration or treatment.
 - 5.8.2. <u>Special advantage/disadvantage:</u> when Board members, staff and advisory body members can gain special advantage because of their position or when the Regional District is disadvantaged as a result of the other interests of Board members, staff and advisory body members.
 - 5.8.3. <u>Provision of special consideration or treatment:</u> in the performance of their duties, staff and advisory body members may only grant special consideration or treatment as specifically authorized by the Board or the Chief Administrative Officer.
 - 5.8.4. <u>Representation to the Regional Board, its Committees, or Tribunals:</u> staff and advisory body members must not represent any private interest(s) except on their own behalf.
 - 5.8.5. <u>Use of Regional District owned resources:</u> Board members, staff and advisory body members must use Regional District owned equipment, material, staff time and property in accordance with RDCO policy, or as specifically authorized by the Regional Board or the Chief Administrative Officer.
 - 5.8.6. <u>Discounts/Rebates:</u> Board members, staff and advisory body members may not take advantage of discounts/rebates on personal purchases from suppliers having an existing business relationship with the Regional District, unless those suppliers offer the same discount/rebates to the general public or those discounts/rebates are offered to staff of other large employers (public and private) on a no-strings-attached basis to the employer.
- **5.9.** Board members, staff and advisory body members must not expect or request preferential treatment for themselves or their family because of their position. They must also avoid any action that could lead members of the public to believe that they are seeking preferential treatment;
- **5.10.** Staff who are considering outside employment, contract work or any business or undertaking that relates in any way to the business of the Regional District or that might conflict or appear to conflict with their duties to the Regional District must notify and seek the approval of the Chief Administrative Officer in writing.
 - 5.10.1. In dealing with such requests the Chief Administrative Officer must not unreasonably withhold approval except where such employment is deemed to be inappropriate or present a high probability of the existence of a conflict.
 - 5.10.2. Before staff engage in outside employment or business they must ensure that it will not:
 - Conflict or appear to conflict with official duties;
 - Interfere with Regional District work;

- Involve the use of Confidential Information or Regional District resources obtained through their work for the Regional District;
- Require work during Regional District work hours;
- Discredit or disadvantage the Regional District or the Regional Board; or
- Result in their holding any property or interest which may be in conflict with the employee's duties to the Regional District.

6. Gifts and Personal Benefits

6.1. What are gifts and personal benefits?

- 6.1.1. Gifts and personal benefits are items or services of value that are received by Board members, staff and advisory body members for their personal use. Gifts and personal benefits include but are not limited to cash, gift cards, tickets to events, items of clothing, jewelry, pens, food or beverages, discounts/rebates on personal purchases, free or subsidized drinks or meals, entertainment, and invitations to social functions organized by groups or community organizations;
- 6.1.2. The following are not considered to be gifts or personal benefits for the purposes of this policy:
 - Compensation authorized by law, and
 - Reimbursement for out-of-pocket costs incurred for authorized travel, living and accommodation expenses associated with attendance at an event.

6.2. What gifts and personal benefits may and may not be accepted?

- 6.2.1. Board members, staff and advisory body members must not, directly or indirectly, accept a gift or personal benefit that is intended to influence the member's performance of their respective official duties related to the Regional District;
- 6.2.2. Board members may accept gifts and personal benefits received as an incident of the protocol or social obligations that normally accompany the responsibilities of elected office;
- 6.2.3. Staff or advisory body members may accept a gifts or personal benefit that meets both of the following criteria:
 - It has a value of \$50 or less, AND
 - Is received as an incident of protocol or as a Regional District representative on activities such as speaking engagements, technical presentations, business meetings and social obligations reasonably related to their role with the Regional District of Central Okanagan.
- 6.2.4. Notwithstanding section 6.2.2 and 6.2.3 Board members, staff and advisory body members must never accept a gift of cash;
- 6.2.5. Staff may not take advantage of discounts/rebates on personal purchases from suppliers having an existing business relationship with the Regional District, unless those suppliers offer the same discount/rebates to the general public or those discounts/rebates are offered to staff of other large employers (public and private) on a no-strings-attached basis to the employer;

6.2.6. Board members, staff and advisory body members must take all reasonable steps to ensure that their immediate family members do not receive gifts or personal benefits that could appear to an impartial observer to be an attempt to subvert this policy or to influence or secure a favour from the Board members, staff and advisory body member. Immediate family members include parents, spouses, children and siblings.

6.3. How must gifts and personal benefits be reported?

- 6.3.1. Board members must disclose any gift or personal benefit they have accepted that is valued at more than \$50;
- 6.3.2. If an Elected official, staff or advisory body member receives multiple gifts or personal benefits valued under \$50 from a single individual or source in one calendar year, the gifts must be disclosed if the combined value of these gifts for the year is more than \$50;
- 6.3.3. Board members, staff and advisory body members in receipt of gifts or personal benefits that they do not wish to accept have the option of immediately relinquishing the gift or personal benefit to the Chief Administrative Officer without filing a disclosure form. If not relinquished immediately, a disclosure form will be required;
- 6.3.4. Responsibility for relinquishing of gifts and personal benefits exceeding a cumulated value of \$50 in one calendar year lies solely with the recipient of the gift.

6.4. How are gifts and personal benefits valued?

- 6.4.1. For the purposes of this Code, the value of each gift or personal benefit shall be determined by its replacement cost, i.e. how much it would cost to replace the item;
- 6.4.2. Where the value for a gift or personal benefit is unclear, the Chief Administrative Officer shall determine this value.

6.5. How are relinquished gifts managed and disposed of?

- 6.5.1. The Chief Administrative Officer's office will maintain records of all gifts and personal benefits received, including disposition;
- 6.5.2. Any gifts or personal benefits that have been received in contravention of section 8.2 of this policy must be turned over to the Chief Administrative Officer for safekeeping or disposition, and are the property of the Regional District:
- 6.5.3. At the Chief Administrative Officer's discretion, such gifts may be disposed of as follows:
 - Returned to the donor:
 - Displayed in the public areas of the corporate head office; or
 - Disposed of by donation, sale or auction, with any proceeds credited to the Regional District's general administration revenues or to the direct or indirect support of a charitable organization.
- 6.5.4. The Chief Administrative Officer may contact the donor, where appropriate, to report on the disposition of the gift.

7. Interactions of Board Members, Staff and Advisory Body Members

- **7.1.** The Regional Board is the governing body of the Regional District of Central Okanagan. It has the responsibility to govern the Regional District in accordance with the *Local Government Act*, *Community Charter*, and other relevant legislation;
- **7.2.** The Regional Board of Directors must act in accordance with the Board's Procedure Bylaw and the conduct guidelines outlined in this document;
- **7.3.** Board members must not direct or influence, or attempt to direct or influence any staff or advisory body member in the exercise of their duties or functions;
- **7.4.** Board members are not to contact or issue instructions to any of the Regional District's contractors, tenderers, consultants or other service providers;
- **7.5.** Board members must not make public statements attacking or reflecting negatively on Regional District staff or invoke staff matters for political purposes;
- **7.6.** Board members must not approach staff organizations about personal matters of individual staff members:
- **7.7.** The Chief Administrative Officer is responsible for the efficient and effective operation of the Regional District organization and for ensuring the implementation of the decisions of the Board;
- 7.8. The Regional Board operates under a single employee model. That single employee is the Chief Administrative Officer (CAO). Requests for information from the Board other than over the counter inquiries must be addressed to the CAO who will refer the inquiry to the appropriate staff member to respond. Requests for meetings between Board members and managers must be approved by the CAO prior to the meeting. Direct access to staff within a department is not permitted unless previously approved by the Chief Administrative Officer.
 - When Board members request information from staff that would constitute more than a technical clarification, the response will be provided to all Directors so that all Directors have access to the same information, unless the information is provided through a formal *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (FIPPA)* request;
- 7.9. There are distinct and specialized roles expected of staff both in carrying out their responsibilities and in dealing with the Board. Staff are accountable to the Chief Administrative Officer and the Chief Administrative Officer is accountable to the Board. As such, it is inappropriate for Directors to involve themselves in matters of administration, departmental management, personnel or other administrative responsibilities that fall within the jurisdiction of the Chief Administrative Officer;
- 7.10. The Board as a whole, not individual Directors, gives direction to staff through Board resolutions. The Chief Administrative Officer directs administrative staff and oversees the implementation of those Board resolutions. Accordingly, Directors shall not request staff to undertake work that has not been expressly authorized by the Board. Directors shall submit such requests directly to the Board or, where the Director believes the request is of a minor nature consistent with corporate policies, to the Chief Administrative Officer who shall determine if the request can be accommodated without compromising other Board-approved directives or if the request needs to be referred to the Board for consideration of resource allocation;

7.11. Staff are expected to:

- 7.11.1. Give their attention to the business of the Regional District while on duty;
- 7.11.2. Ensure that their work is carried out efficiently, economically and effectively;
- 7.11.3. Provide Board members with information sufficient to enable them to carry out their civic functions:
- 7.11.4. Carry out lawful directions given by any person having authority to give such directions; and
- 7.11.5. Give effect to the lawful policies, decisions and practices of the Regional Board, whether or not the staff member agrees with or approves of them.
- **7.12.** Staff should seek the advice and approval of their manager prior to responding to a direct request from a Board member, except where the request is minor or of a day-to-day operational nature;
- **7.13.** Staff are to provide information and professional advice through regular Regional District processes and are not to lobby Board members on any matter;
- **7.14.** Staff must not make public statements unfairly attacking or reflecting negatively on the Regional District of Central Okanagan, the Regional Board, individual Board members or staff:
- 7.15. The Chief Administrative Officer and senior managers are to be equally helpful to all members of the Board, and should avoid close alliance, or the appearance of close alliance, with any particular member. Information and advice is to be provided as requested within the limitations of this document;
- **7.16.** Significant information provided to any Board member, which is likely to be used in a Board meeting or in political debate, should also be provided to all other Board members, and to the Chief Administrative Officer;
- 7.17. Advisory body members must act in accordance with the relevant sections of the Regional District's Procedure Bylaw and the conduct guidelines outlined in this document;
- 7.18. Advisory body members must not inappropriately direct or influence, or attempt to direct or influence, any staff in the exercise of their duties or functions except where such direction or influence is necessary to fulfill the specific mandate of the advisory body;
- **7.19.** Advisory body members must not make public statements unfairly attacking or reflecting negatively on the Regional District of Central Okanagan, the Regional Board, individual Board members or staff.

8. Confidential Information

- **8.1.** Board members shall be aware of their responsibilities under Section 205 of the *Local Government Act* and Section 117 of Division 1 of Part 5 of the *Community Charter* and shall fulfill the requirements of the legislation;
- **8.2.** Board members, staff and advisory body members shall not disclose or release to anyone, confidential information acquired by virtue of their office, in either oral or written form except when required by law or authorized by the Board to do so;
- 8.3. Board members, staff and advisory body members shall not disclose the substance of deliberations of an in-camera meeting until the Board approves a resolution to bring formerly confidential information to a meeting that is open to the public or releases the information to the public;

- **8.4.** Confidential information includes documents and discussions regarding all matters described under Section 90 of the Community Charter affecting the business affairs of the Region as well as information provided by a third party on a confidential basis. Confidential information also includes, but is not limited to information:
 - 8.4.1. Disclosed or discussed at an In-Camera or Confidential Meeting of the Board;
 - 8.4.2. That is circulated to Directors and marked "Confidential"; or
 - 8.4.3. That is given verbally in confidence in preparation for or following an incamera meeting.

9. Use of Public Resources

9.1. Board members, staff and advisory body members shall not use Regional District resources, such as staff time, equipment, supplies, websites, facilities or other property, other than for the discharge of their duly authorized duties dealing with Regional District business and in no case for personal convenience or profit.

10. Advocacy

- 10.1. It is recognized that Directors play a dual role of representing the interests of their respective taxpayers, while recognizing the benefits of regional collaboration and cooperation within the democratic process of decision making as a regional entity. All members of the Board shall respect the diverse interests of its citizenry and the role of Directors to balance the views of their respective jurisdictions with that of other jurisdictions. As such, a Director needs to consider all aspects of an issue including applying the Board's Key Values prior to making decisions that support the Boards strategic objectives. While it is not anticipated that all decisions will be unanimous, it is recognized that the decisions of the Board will be the only position portrayed as a corporate decision;
- **10.2.** When presenting their individual opinions and positions, Directors shall expressly state that the views are their own and do not represent the views of the Regional District. Directors shall not use Regional District letterhead for personal matters or to convey an opinion on any matter not specifically approved by the Board.

11. Political Activity

- 11.1. Staff members enjoy broad political freedoms and should be able to engage in democratic politics with few restrictions. However, such broad freedoms must be exercised so as not to call into question their ability to perform their employment duties in a professional and impartial manner;
- **11.2.** The purpose of this section of the Code of Conduct is to recognize the right of employees to engage in Political Activity while maintaining the principle of political impartiality in the public service;
- 11.3. An employee may engage in Political Activity so long as it does not impair, or is not perceived as impairing, the employee's ability to perform his or her duties in a politically impartial manner. This precludes employees from displaying slogans or symbols supporting a particular party or candidate while at work where their duties may reasonably require them to interact in person with the public or where their duties require them to supervise, schedule or assign work to others;
- **11.4.** The Chief Administrative Officer and senior managers shall not engage in any public Political Activity other than voting in an election;

- 11.5. Before being nominated to office as a member of the board of the regional district, or as a member of a council of a municipality that is within the regional district an employee must give written notice to his or her employer of their intention to consent to nomination. They must also arrange for a leave of absence for the duration of the nomination period and, if successfully elected resign their position with the RDCO prior to making their oath of office, all in accordance with the Local Government Act;
- **11.6.** Board members shall not undertake campaign related activities on Regional District property during regular working hours unless specifically organized by the Regional District (i.e. candidate procedures, all candidate orientation, etc.);
- **11.7.** Board members shall not use any Regional District property for campaign work including Regional District photocopiers, computers, email lists, etc.

12. Reprisals and Obstruction

- **12.1.** The Regional District will not retaliate against Directors or Regional District staff who, in good faith, report a known or suspected violation of this Code as described herein. Directors will respect the integrity of the Code of Conduct and investigations conducted under it;
- **12.2.** Any reprisal or threat of reprisal against a complainant or anyone for providing relevant information in an investigation is, therefore, prohibited;
- **12.3.** It is a violation of the Code of Conduct to obstruct an investigation.

13. Implementation

13.1. The Regional District's Code of Conduct is intended to be self-enforcing. Directors should view the Code as a set of guidelines that express collectively the standards of conduct expected of them. It, therefore, becomes most effective when Directors are thoroughly familiar with the Code and embrace its provisions.

For this reason, the Code of Conduct will be provided to candidates for Regional District elections. Persons elected to the Regional District will be requested to sign the Director's Statement affirming they have read and understand the Regional District's Code of Conduct. The Code of Conduct will be reviewed in detail at orientation sessions for new and returning directors following each election or by-election.

14. Compliance and Enforcement

14.1. The Regional District's Code of Conduct expresses standards of ethical conduct expected for Board members, staff and advisory body members. They themselves have the primary responsibility to assure that these ethical standards are understood and met, and that the public can continue to have full confidence in the integrity of the governance of the Regional District.

15. Impact on Board Decisions

15.1. A Violation of this Code of Conduct shall not be considered a basis for challenging the validity of a Regional District decision.

Signature	Date	

REGIONAL DISTRICT OF OKANAGAN-SIMILKAMEEN **BOARD POLICY**

POLICY:

Code of Ethics

AUTHORITY:

Board Resolution No. B24/05 dated January 21, 2005.

Administrative Review April 15, 2015

POLICY STATEMENT

The citizens of the Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen are entitled to have fair, honest and open local government that has earned the public's full confidence for integrity. In keeping with the Regional District's Principles and Corporate Values, the Regional District seeks to maintain and enhance the quality of life for all Regional District residents through effective, responsible and responsive government.

PURPOSE

To outline standards of conduct expected of all Regional District representatives.

DEFINITIONS (IF REQUIRED)

Member means an elected or appointed Director of the Regional District, an appointee to a board, committee, commission, panel, task force or other body of the Regional District.

RESPONSIBILITIES

Members commit to ensure that:

- public business is conducted with integrity, in a fair, honest and open manner;
- they respect one another, the public and staff and recognize the unique role and contribution each person has in making the Regional District a better place to work and live;
- their conduct in the performance of their duties and responsibilities with the Regional District be above reproach; and
- the decision-making processes be accessible, participatory, understandable, timely, and just, in addition to satisfying the requirements of applicable enactments.

PROCEDURES

1. Act in the Public Interest

Recognizing that the Regional District seeks to maintain and enhance the quality of life for all Regional District residents through effective, responsive and responsible government, Members will conduct their business with integrity, in a fair, honest and open manner.

2. Comply with the Law

Members shall comply with all applicable federal, provincial, and local laws in the performance of their public duties. These laws include, but are not limited to: the Constitution Act, the Provincial Human Rights Code, the Criminal Code, the Community Charter and the Local Government Act; laws pertaining to financial disclosures and employer responsibilities; and relevant Regional District bylaws and policies.

3. Conduct of Members

The conduct of Members in the performance of their duties and responsibilities with the Regional District must be fair, open and honest. Members shall refrain from abusive conduct, personal charges or verbal attacks upon the character or motives of other members, Regional District staff or the public.

4. Respect for Process

Members shall perform their duties in accordance with the policies and procedures and rules of order established by the Regional District governing the deliberation of public policy issues, meaningful involvement of the public, and implementation of policy decisions of the Regional District by Regional District staff. Members of committees shall be aware of the mandate of their respective committee and act in accordance with it.

5. Conduct of Public Meetings

Members shall prepare themselves for public meetings, listen courteously and attentively to all public discussions before the body and focus on the business at hand. They shall not interrupt other speakers, make personal comments not germane to the business of the body or otherwise disturb a meeting.

6. Decisions Based on Merit

Members shall base their decisions on the merits and substance of the matter at hand, rather than on unrelated circumstances.

7. Communication

Subject to paragraph 10, Members shall share with the body of which they are a member all substantive information that is relevant to a matter under consideration by them which they may have received from sources outside of the public decision-making process. Prior to doing so, Members shall discuss the information with the Chief Administrative Officer so as to ensure that the appropriate procedure is followed in the decision-making process.

8. Conflict of Interest

All Regional District directors shall be aware of their responsibilities under the *Local Government Act* and shall fulfil the requirements of section 787.1(1) of that Act and Division 6 of Part 4 of the *Community Charter*. All other Members shall act in accordance with the Regional District's *Conflict of Interest Policy*.

9. Gifts and Favours

All Regional District directors shall be aware of their responsibilities under the *Local Government Act* and shall fulfil the requirements of section 787.1(1) of that Act and sections 105 and 106 of the *Community Charter*. All other Members shall not accept any money, property, position or favour of any kind whether to be received at the present or in the future, from a person having, or seeking to have dealings with the Regional District, save appropriate refreshments or meals, except where such a gift or favour is authorized by law, or where such gifts or favours are received as an incident of the protocol, social obligation or common business hospitality that accompany the duties and responsibilities of the member. A member may participate in Regional District programs open to the public and may purchase Regional District property or goods offered for public sale.

10. Confidential Information

Members shall respect the confidentiality of information concerning property, personnel or legal affairs of the Regional District and of information provided by a third party to the Regional District on a confidential basis. They shall neither disclose confidential information without proper authorization, nor use such information to advance their personal, financial or other private interests.

11. Use of Public Resources

Members shall not use Regional District resources not available to the public in general, such as staff time, equipment, supplies or facilities, for private gain or personal purposes.

12. Advocacy

Members shall represent the official policies or positions of the Regional District to the best of their ability when designated as delegates for this purpose. When presenting their individual opinions and positions, Members shall expressly state the views are their own and do not represent the views of the Regional District. Members shall not use Regional District letterhead for personal matters.

13. Policy Role Members

Members shall respect and adhere to the Regional District Management staff structure of government as practiced in the Regional District of Okanagan-Similkameen. In this structure, the Regional District Board makes policy decisions and the Regional District Management staff implements those with appropriate advice, information and analysis.

Members, therefore, shall not interfere with the administrative functions of the Regional District or with the professional duties of the Regional District staff; nor shall they impair the ability of staff to implement Regional District policy decisions.

14. Positive Work Place Environment

Members shall treat other members, the public and Regional District staff with respect and shall be supportive of the personal dignity, self-esteem and well-being of those with whom they come in contact with during the course of their professional duties.

15. Implementation

The Regional District's Code of Ethics is intended to be self-enforcing. Members should view the Code as a set of guidelines that express collectively the standards of conduct expected of them. It, therefore, becomes most effective when Members are thoroughly familiar with the Code and embrace its provisions.

For this reason, the Code of Ethics will be provided to candidates for Regional District Directorship and applicants to committees. Persons elected to Regional District Directorship or appointed to a body by the Regional District will be requested to sign the Member Statement affirming they have read and understand the Regional District's Code of Ethics.

16. Compliance and Enforcement

The Regional District's Code of Ethics expresses standards of ethical conduct expected for Members. Members themselves have the primary responsibility to assure that these ethical standards are understood and met, and that the public can continue to have full confidence in the integrity of the governance of the Regional District.

The Regional District may impose sanctions on Members whose conduct does not comply with the Regional District's standards, such as motions of censure and rescission of committee and other appointments.

To ensure procedural and administrative fairness, Members who are accused of violating any provision of the Code of Ethics shall have a minimum of one week, or the time between two consecutive meetings, whichever is greater, to prepare his or her case to respond to the allegations. Before considering a sanction, the Regional District must ensure that the member has:

- 1. received a written copy of the case against him or her;
- 2. a minimum of one week, or the time between two consecutive meetings, whichever is greater, to prepare a defence against the allegations; and
- 3. an opportunity to be heard.

A violation of this Code of Ethics shall not be considered a basis for challenging the validity of a Regional District decision.

DISTRICT OF HOPE

POLICY MANUAL

DEPARTME	NT: All		POLICY NUMBER:	102-05
POLICY TITLE: COUNCIL LEADERSHIP AND OPERATING PRINCIPLES POLICY				
Authority:	Legislative: (Council) Administrative:	X	Effective Date: Date for Review:	March 1, 2005
Council Resolution Number: 069RC/05/02/28		Approval Date:	February 28, 2005	

A. POLICY STATEMENT

The District of Hope wishes to establish a policy whereby Council:

- (a) can effectively work together, as a council and staff, to define and successfully achieve the strategic direction and priorities of the community;
- (b) establishes a framework to improve internal working relationships, as well as with staff, to the overall benefit of the organization, building on the core values of trust, respect and integrity.

B. DEFINITIONS

- 'COUNCIL' means the duly elected municipal council of the District of Hope.
- 2. 'DISTRICT OF HOPE' means the municipal corporation of the District of Hope.
- 3. 'STAFF' means all employees of the District of Hope.

C. LEADERSHIP

Leadership by Council will be collaborative and interpersonal in order to achieve the
results Council and the organization require. Information sharing and communication are
integral components of collaborative action. As Council is a collective decision-making
body, and not merely a collection of individuals, Council will initiate organizational action
solely by majority Council decisions through bylaws, policies or resolutions.

- 2. Council will work towards creating and maintaining an environment where people are ready, willing and able to take initiative, be creative and get results. To achieve this goal effectively Council will do the following:
 - (a) <u>Set Direction:</u> Ensure that the activities of the organization focus on longer-term vision and objectives, while working with others to build a shared commitment to the future direction. Focus on actions that advance the stated direction and objectives.
 - (b) <u>Mobilize Action:</u> Provide clearly defined accountabilities and performance expectations. Reward and celebrate risk-taking and success, while dealing with gaps in performance. Use a disciplined approach to lead and manage change initiatives. Capitalize on the diverse opinions and collective experience and knowledge within the organization to build optimal solutions.
 - (c) <u>Build Capacity:</u> Strive to be a leader in the delivery of municipal services and to become an employer of choice by investing sufficient time, effort and resources to the organization. Develop mechanisms for developing and retaining high potentials, while ensuring that there are also mechanisms for assisting and dealing with under-performers. Hold accountability for collaborative work between the various programs and units of the organization.
 - (d) Act With Courage: To achieve the desired work environment and to create trust in dealing with all others, Council will act with personal integrity, express themselves openly and honestly, challenge prevailing organizational wisdom through nonthreatening conduct, take informed risks, expect the best of others, and celebrate successes.
- 3. Council will effectively respond to the expectations and demands of the community by capitalizing on the individual and collective strengths of the organization while minimizing its weaknesses. To achieve this goal effectively Council will act in a manner that enables it to answer the following questions with "yes":
 - (a) Does the behaviour of Council engender the trust and ongoing support of staff?
 - (b) Does Council typically act in the best interests of the overall community first, and not tend to focus on the needs and expectations of a particular interest group(s)?
 - (c) Is Council prepared to accept risks and take chances, while also providing unfailing support to staff that do?
 - (d) Does Council have an effective mechanism for dealing with issues and conflicts?
 - (e) Does Council reward and celebrate risk-taking, innovation and/or success?

D. VALUES & OPERATING PRINCIPLES

- 1. Core Values of relationships between all parties of the organization:
 - (a) <u>Trust:</u> When a promise is made to take a certain course of action, others are able to place full reliance on that promise. When criticism is expressed, regardless of the audience, all parties should be able to anticipate a supportive response.
 - (b) Respect: Respect each other's intelligence and professionalism, respect for challenges each individual faces, respect that we are all trying to serve the best interests of our community and our citizens. Respect that council and administrative roles differ and recognize that staff make poor politicians and elected representatives are not elected to manage.
 - (c) <u>Integrity:</u> All individuals are expected to act in an honest, truthful and straightforward manner, putting the good of the organization ahead of subgroup interests, even at their own risk.
- 2. The following principles operate from the basis that the core values of trust, respect, and integrity are non-negotiable foundations of behaviour within the organization:
 - (a) Be respectful and courteous to fellow councillors and staff, whether it is in council meetings, other public forums or in private settings. Internal disagreements are to be dealt with internally, as the public is less interested in dirty laundry than seeing the job accomplished.
 - (b) Appreciate and understand that people have different styles and approaches focus on the content, not the delivery.
 - (c) Give the 'benefit of the doubt' to your fellow councillors as they try to represent the best interests of both their constituents and the municipality.
 - (d) Listen first, and then respond.
 - (e) Do not make assumptions about future council behaviour based on the decisions and behaviours of previous councils.
 - (f) Act and make decisions based on the good of the community as a whole, while recognizing and respecting localized needs and requirements.
 - (g) Use council time and staff time effectively focus on making decisions and taking action.

- (h) Once making a decision, 'leave the baggage behind' and move on, this includes publicly supporting the decision, even though it may not have been your preferred action.
- (i) Use time outside of formal council meetings to foster understanding and better communications, which includes dealing directly with your fellow councillors regarding any issues or concerns.
- (j) Respect and adhere to the 'chain of command' within the administration. All issues, discussions and actions with and regarding staff are initiated through or with the Chief Administrative Officer and are not subjected to the public or other arenas.
- (k) The 'no surprise theory' will be followed. Issues and concerns will be shared in a suitable setting to further encourage full disclosure and the ability to develop appropriate responses.

E. END OF POLICY





Strathcona Gardens Recreation Complex 250-830-6777



Code of Conduct

What Directors can expect of each other:

Discussions at the Board and committee meetings will be focused on the issues and the facts:

 Strothoons Board.

- The diverse perspectives of each director, as they reflect the ir communities, will be respected;
- Strong disagreements and conflicts will be seen as a natural committee work;
- · Directors can expect courteous behaviour from each other;

Strathcona Regional District Board Meetings - 2018

Strathcona Regional District Board meeting held at 301-990 Cedar Street, Campbell River, BC commencing at 12:30 p.m.

The meeting is open to the public.

- No director will speak publicly in a way that denigrates the Regional District, other Directors or staff;
- Assumptions will not be made about what a particular director means when they speak. Each director has a responsibility to ask for clarification;
- · Disagreements will not be taken personally, nor made personal;
- Directors have the right and responsibility to speak publicly, and explain their position, and agreement or disagreement with the overall Board decision; and
- Directors, when speaking at Board and committee meetings, and publicly, will avoid inflammatory language. They are expected to speak in an objective manner.



301-990 Cedar Street, Campbell River, BC V9W 7Z8 phone: 250-830-6700 or 1-877-830-2990 fax: 250-830-6710

Powered by CivicWeb CMS - © Copyright 2013 iCompass Technologies Inc.

District of Saanich

COUNCIL POLICY

NAME:	CODE OF CONDUCT	
ISSUED:	November 28, 2016	INDEX REFERENCE:
AMENDED:		COUNCIL REFERENCE: 16/CNCL

PURPOSE:

To set minimum expectations for the behaviour of Council officials in carrying out their functions.

SCOPE:

All Council officials and the Chief Administrative Officer.

DEFINITIONS:

Advisory Body Member: a person sitting on an advisory committee, task force, commission, board, or other Council-established body.

Confidential Information: Confidential Information includes information that could reasonably harm the interests of individuals or organizations, including the District of Saanich, if disclosed to persons who are not authorized to access the information, as well as information to which section 117 of the *Community Charter* applies.

Council official: the Mayor and Council members

Personal Information: has the same meaning as in the *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act*

Staff: an employee or contract employee of the District of Saanich, and includes staff that supports Advisory Bodies.

Municipal Officer: a member of staff designated as an officer under section 146 of the *Community Charter* or a bylaw under that section.

INTERPRETATION:

- (a) In this policy, a reference to a person who holds an office includes a reference to the persons appointed as deputy or appointed to act for that person from time to time.
- (b) This Code of Conduct applies to the use of social media by Council officials in relation to District related matters.

POLICY STATEMENTS:

1. Key Principles

- 1.1. *Integrity*: Council officials are keepers of the public trust and must uphold the highest standards of ethical behaviour. Council officials are expected to:
 - make decisions that benefit the community;
 - act lawfully and within the authorities of the Community Charter, Local Government Act and other applicable enactments; and
 - be free from undue influence and not act, or appear to act, in order to gain financial or other benefits for themselves, family, friends or business interests.
- 1.2. Accountability: Council officials are obligated to answer for the responsibility that has been entrusted to them. They are responsible for decisions that they make. This responsibility includes acts of commission and acts of omission. In turn, decision-making processes must be transparent and subject to public scrutiny; proper records must be kept.
- 1.3. Leadership: Council officials must demonstrate and promote the key principles of the Code of Conduct through their decisions, actions and behaviour. Their behaviour must build and inspire the public's trust and confidence in local government. Council officials will provide leadership to District staff through the Chief Administrative Officer.
- 1.4. Respect: Council officials must conduct public business efficiently and with decorum. They must treat each other and others with respect at all times. This means not using derogatory language towards others, respecting the rights of other people, treating people with courtesy and recognition of the different roles others play in local government decision making.
- 1.5. Openness: Council officials have a duty to be as open as possible about their decisions and actions. This means communicating appropriate information openly to the public about decision-making processes and issues being considered; encouraging appropriate public participation; communicating clearly; and providing appropriate means for recourse and feedback.

2. General Conduct

2.1. Council officials must adhere to the key principles and provisions of the Code of Conduct.

- 2.2. Council officials must act lawfully and within the authorities of the *Community Charter, Local Government Act* and other applicable enactments and exercise a reasonable degree of care and diligence in carrying out their functions.
- 2.3. Council officials have an obligation to consider issues and exercise powers, duties and functions in a manner that avoids arbitrary and unreasonable decisions.
- 2.4. Council officials must avoid behaviour that could constitute an act of disorder or misbehaviour. Specifically, Council officials must avoid conduct that:
 - contravenes this policy;
 - contravenes the law, including the *BC Human Rights Code*, and other enactments, and District Bylaws; and
 - is an abuse of power or otherwise amounts to improper discrimination, intimidation, harassment or verbal abuse of others.

3. Collection and Handling of Information

3.1. Council officials must:

- Collect and use personal information in accordance with Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act legislation and the policies and guidelines as established in Saanich;
- Protect information that is specifically marked confidential, that is Personal Information and other material identified or understood to be confidential in nature;
- Refrain from discussing or disclosing any Confidential Information with or to Staff, or with persons outside the organization except as authorized;
- Refrain from discussing or disclosing any Personal Information with or to other Council Officials, Staff, or with persons outside the organization except in a manner consistent with the duty to protect Personal Information under the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act.
- Take reasonable care to prevent the examination of confidential material or access to Personal Information by unauthorized individuals;

- Not use Confidential Information except for the purpose for which it is intended to be used;
- Only release information in accordance with established District policies and procedures and in compliance with the *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act* (British Columbia);
- Not disclose decisions, resolutions or report contents forming part of the agenda for or from an in-camera meeting of Council until a corporate decision has been made for the information to become public; and
- Not disclose details on Council's in-camera deliberations or specific detail on whether individual Councillors voted for or against an issue.
- 3.2. Except in the normal course of duties, Council officials must not in any way change or alter District records or documents.
- 3.3. When dealing with Personal Information, Council officials must comply fully with the provisions of the *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act*. All reasonable and necessary measures must be taken to ensure that the personal or private business information of individuals is protected. Personal information includes information or an opinion about a person whose identity is apparent, or can be determined from the information or opinion.

4. Conflict of Interest

- 4.1. Council officials are expected to make decisions that benefit the community. They are to be free from undue influence and not act or appear to act in order to gain financial or other benefits for themselves, family, friends, or business interests.
- 4.2. Council officials must appropriately resolve any conflict or incompatibility between their personal interests and the impartial performance of their duties in accordance with statutory requirements of the *Community Charter*.

5. Interactions of Council officials with Staff and Advisory Body Members

- 5.1. Council is the governing body of the District of Saanich. It has the responsibility to govern the District in accordance with the *Community Charter* and other legislation.
- 5.2. The Mayor is the head and chief executive officer of the District and has a statutory responsibility to provide leadership to the Council and to provide general direction to municipal officers respecting the municipal policies, programs and other directions of the council as set out in the Community Charter.

- 5.3. Council officials are to contact staff including Municipal Officers, according to the procedures authorized by Council and the District Chief Administrative Officer regarding the interaction of Council members and staff. As a general principle, the District adopts the one employee model where Council's point of contact with staff is the Chief Administrative Officer.
- 5.4. Council officials are to direct inquiries regarding departmental issues or questions to the District's Chief Administrative Officer or the Department Head (Director) of the appropriate department and refrain from contacting other staff without first discussing the issue with the Department Head.
- 5.5. Advice to Council from staff will be vetted, approved and signed by the Chief Administrative Officer.
- 5.6. Council officials will invite the Chief Administrative Officer to be present at any meeting between a Council official and a member of staff where such attendance is requested by the staff member.
- 5.7. Council officials are not to issue instructions to any of the District's contractors, tenderers, consultants or other service providers.
- 5.8. Council officials must not make public statements attacking or disparaging staff or Advisory Body Members and shall show respect for the professional capacities of staff. Council officials must not involve staff in matters for political purposes.
- 5.9. Council officials must not publish or report information or make statements attacking or reflecting negatively on staff or Advisory Body Members except to the Chief Administrative Officer as appropriate to bring a complaint to the attention of the Chief Administrative Officer for follow up.
- 5.10. Significant information provided to any member of Council, which is likely to be used in Council or in political debate, should also be provided to all other Council members, and to the Chief Administrative Officer.
- 5.11. Council officials must treat members of the public, other Council officials, Advisory Body Members and staff appropriately, and without bullying, abuse or intimidation in order to preserve a workplace free from harassment.

6. Council Officials Use of Social Media

- 6.1. It is not the role of individual Council officials to report directly on District related business. Council officials will use caution in reporting decision-making by way of their social media profiles and websites prior to official communication by the District.
- 6.2. Council officials will include an "in my opinion", or similar disclaimer, either within the banner of their individual social media site(s) or separately when making follow up posts to the District's social media postings and when creating original posts pertaining to District related business.
- 6.3. Council officials will refrain from using or permitting use of their social media accounts for purposes that include:
 - defamatory remarks, obscenities, profane language or sexual content;
 - negative statements disparaging staff or calling into question the professional capabilities of staff;
 - content that endorses, promotes, or perpetuates discrimination or mistreatment on the basis of race, religion or belief, age, gender, marital status, national origin, physical or mental disability or sexual orientation;
 - statements that indicate an actual attitudinal bias in relation to a matter that is to be the subject of a statutory or other public hearing;
 - promotion of illegal activity;
 - information that may compromise the safety or security of the public or public systems.
- 6.4. Council officials must regularly monitor their social media accounts and immediately take measures to deal with the publication of messages or postings by others that violate this Code of Conduct.

7. Interactions with the Public and the Media

7.1. Council officials will accurately communicate the decisions of the Council, even if they disagree with the majority decision of Council, and by so doing affirm the respect for and integrity in the decision-making processes of Council.

7.2. When discussing the fact that he/she did not support a decision, or voted against the decision, or that another Council official did not support a decision or voted against a decision, a Council official will refrain from making disparaging comments about other Council officials or about Council's processes and decisions.

8. Gifts and Personal Benefits

The receipt and reporting of gifts and personal benefits is dealt with under sections 105 and 106 of the *Community Charter*. Ultimately, the interpretation of those sections is a matter for the courts. However, the general language used in those sections creates some level of uncertainty and this Code of Conduct is intended to provide some guidance to Council officials.

- 8.1. What are Gifts and Personal Benefits?
 - 8.1.1. Gifts and personal benefits are items or services of value that are received by Council officials for personal use. These would include, but are not limited to, cash, gift cards, tickets to events, items of clothing, jewellery, pens, food or beverages, discounts or rebates on purchases, free or subsidized drinks or meals, entertainment, invitations to social functions, etc.
 - 8.1.2. The following are not to be considered gifts or personal benefits:
 - Compensation authorized by law (see section 105(2)(b) of the Community Charter).
 - Reimbursement for out of pocket costs incurred for authorized travel, living and accommodation expenses associated with attendance at an event or in connection with an authorized travel.
 - A lawful contribution made to a Council member who is a candidate for election conducted under the *Local Government Act*.
- 8.2. What Gifts and Personal Benefits may be Accepted?
 - 8.2.1. Section 105(1) of the *Community Charter* prohibits Council officials from directly or indirectly accepting a fee, gift or personal benefit connected with the official's performance of the duties of office.
 - 8.2.2. In accordance with section 105(2), a Council official may accept gifts and personal benefits received as an incident of the protocol or social obligations that normally accompany the responsibilities of elected office.

- 8.2.3. Gifts and personal benefits received in accordance with section 105(2)(a) of the *Community Charter* as referenced in section 8.2.2 must be reported and disclosed in accordance with section 106 to the Corporate Officer.
- 8.2.4. Where a gift or personal benefit that may be accepted under the Community Charter has a value in excess of \$100.00, the Council official who receives the gift will do so on behalf of the District and turn over the gift to the District, except as otherwise permitted by Council.
- 8.2.5. Council officials must not accept a gift or personal benefit that could reasonably be expected to result in a real or perceived conflict of interest, and to assist in avoiding that situation, Council officials will not accept gifts or personal benefits from business or commercial enterprises having a value that exceeds \$50.00 or, where the total value of such gifts and benefits, received directly or indirectly from one source in any twelve (12) month period, would exceed \$250.00.
- 8.3. How Must Gifts and Personal Benefits be Reported?
 - 8.3.1. Council officials must disclose to the Corporate Officer gifts and personal benefits in accordance with section 106 of the *Community Charter*.
 - 8.3.2. If a Council official receives a gift or personal benefit that they do not wish to accept, regardless of value, they may immediately relinquish the gift or personal benefit to the District, in which case a disclosure form would not be required. If the gift or personal benefit is not immediately relinquished to the District, then the Council official must file a disclosure form.
 - 8.3.3. The content of the disclosure must comply with section 106(2) of the *Community Charter* and must be filed "as soon as reasonably practicable".
 - 8.3.4. It is the responsibility of Council officials to be familiar with the provisions in the *Community Charter* relating to acceptance and disclosure of gifts and to ensure that they comply with these requirements as contemplated by the statute.

- 8.4. How are Gifts and Personal Benefits Valued?
 - 8.4.1. For the purposes of this Code, the value of each gift or personal benefit shall be determined by its replacement cost, i.e., how much it would cost to replace the item?
- 8.5. Procedure for Dealing with Relinquished Gifts and Personal Benefits
 - 8.5.1. Where a gift or personal benefit with value that exceeds \$50 is relinquished to the District, the Corporate Officer will record the receipt of the item, nature of the gift or personal benefit, source (including the addresses of at least two individuals who are directors, when the gift is provided by a corporation, if available), when the gift was received, and the circumstances under which it was given and accepted.

9. Breaches, Complaint Handling and Disciplinary Action

General

9.1. Council officials are to abide by the requirements of the *Community Charter* and this Code of Conduct, and shall endeavour to resolve disputes in good faith, recognizing that interpersonal rancour does not facilitate good governance.

Council Officials

- 9.2. Alleged breaches of this Code of Conduct by Council Officials shall be submitted in a written complaint addressed to the Mayor and the Chief Administrative Officer within six (6) months of the last alleged breach. In the event that the Mayor is the subject of, or is implicated in the complaint, the complaint shall be addressed to the current Acting Mayor unless that individual is the subject of, or implicated in the complaint.
- 9.3. Upon receipt of a complaint under section 9.2, the Mayor, or Acting Mayor, and the Chief Administrative Officer shall, if they are not able to resolve the matter informally, within thirty (30) days, appoint an independent third party identified and agreed between the Complainant(s) and Respondent(s) as having the necessary professional skills, knowledge and experience to investigate the complaint (the "Third Party Investigator"). If the parties cannot agree on the choice of investigator, the nominee of the Complainant(s) and the Respondent(s) shall jointly select a suitable Third Party Investigator.

- 9.4. The Third Party Investigator:
 - 9.4.1. May conduct a preliminary assessment of the complaint, at the conclusion of which the investigator may determine to continue the investigation or make a written recommendation that the complaint be dismissed as unfounded, beyond jurisdiction or unlikely to succeed;

If the Third Party Investigator determines to continue the complaint, the Third Party Investigator shall:

- 9.4.2. Conduct an independent and impartial investigation of the complaint in a manner that is fair, timely, confidential and otherwise accords with the principles of due process and natural justice;
- 9.4.3. Provide an investigation updated within ninety (90) days of his or her appointment to the Mayor or Acting Mayor, as applicable, and to the Complainant and the Respondent;
- 9.4.4. Provide a written, confidential report (the "Report") of the findings of the investigation, including findings as to whether there has been a breach of this Code of Conduct, to the Mayor or Acting Mayor, as applicable, and to the Complainant and the Respondent; and
- 9.4.5. Provide recommendations in the Report as to the appropriate resolution of the complaint, which recommendations may include:
 - dismissal of the complaint; or
 - public censure of the Council Official or Officials for misbehaviour or a breach of this Code of Conduct;
 - a recommendation that a Council Official or Officials apologize to any person adversely affected by a breach of this Code of Conduct;
 - counselling of a Council Official or Officials; and/or
 - such other recommendations as are deemed appropriate in the professional judgment of the Third Party Investigator.
- 9.5. The Mayor or Acting Mayor shall consider whether the Report should be presented to Council.
- 9.6. The Corporate Officer will receive and retain all reports prepared under section 9.4.3 and 9.4.4.

- 9.7. Where a Council Official alleges a breach of this Code of Conduct by a fellow Council Official, all Council Officials shall refrain from commenting on such allegations at open meetings of Council pending the conclusion of the Report and any decision of Council on the Report.
- 9.8. Council Officials who retain legal counsel to represent them in proceedings under this section may request in writing that the District indemnify them for their reasonable costs of representation, in accordance with section 740 of the *Local Government Act*.



Council/Administration Protocol

Effective Date: February 17, 2015

I. Policy Statement

Council and Administration must have a clear understanding of their respective roles and responsibilities as well as a comprehensive framework that guides their interaction with one another, to ensure effective governance, management and operation of the City of Pitt Meadows.

2. Purpose

This policy will:

- a) Establish a framework to clarify the roles of Council and Administration;
- b) Set out communication standards between Council and Administration;
- c) Establish a protocol regime for guiding relations and communication between Council and Administration;
- d) Promote sound working relationships between Council and Administration; and,
- e) Guide both administrative and operational interaction between Council and Administration.

3. Scope

This policy applies to all staff and Council.

4. Policy

Definitions

City means the City of Pitt Meadows.

Chief Administrative Officer means the individual appointed by Council to the position of Chief Administrative Officer (or his/her designate), as the head of Administration.

Formatted: Font: Gill Sans MT, 8 pt



Council means the duly elected officials of the City, those being the Mayor and Councillors.

Councillor means any member of Council except the Mayor.

Department Head(s) means those City employees that are charged with overseeing a particular operational or departmental area and/or their designates.

Mayor means the chief executive officer of the City.

Protocol means both written and unwritten conventions, ethics, and/or rules of interaction and communication between Council and Administration.

Governance Framework

- a) The Mayor and Councillors are the political and governance body of the City, while Administration is the administrative and operational arm of the City.
- b) The legal responsibilities, functions and powers of Council and Administration are both inter-dependent and inter-related. The statutory powers of Council and Administration are set out in the *Community Charter*.
- c) Council is led by the Mayor as the chief executive officer of the City. The Mayor has responsibilities as stated in section 116 of the Community Charter.
- d) Administration is led by the Chief Administrative Officer, who has responsibilities as stated in section 147 of the *Community Charter*.

Roles and Responsibilities

- a) The Mayor coordinates Council decisions, acts as a Council spokesperson, facilitates the Council/Administrative interface, and performs the duties of the chief executive officer as set out in section 116 of the Community Charter.
- b) Council provides direction, makes strategic policy decisions, represents the public interest, and performs the duties/responsibilities of a Council member as set out in section 115 of the Community Charter.
- c) The Mayor is responsible for overseeing the Chief Administrative Officer. Council has one employee, that being the Chief Administrative Officer.
- The Chief Administrative Officer coordinates the City's systems, manages organizational resources and operations, and facilitates the Administrative/Council interface.

Formatted: Font: Gill Sans MT, 8 pt



- e) The Chief Administrative Officer oversees and is responsible for all City employees.
- f) Administration implements Council's policies/direction and the corporate business plan, provides decision-making advice, and communicates customer needs, under the direction of the Chief Administrative Officer.
- g) Administration is bound by decisions of Council and shall not be requested to take action contrary to such a decision.
- h) Council and Administration will adhere to formal channels of communication between each other as established by this policy.

Council/Administration General Protocol

- a) Council and Administration will treat each other with respect and integrity.
- b) The Mayor will advise Council when a Councillor's activities are affecting Administration's performance.
- c) Council will deal with Administration performance concerns by communicating them to the Chief Administrative Officer.

Council/Administration Communication Protocol

- a) Council will channel formal communication to Administration with regard to municipal matters generally through the Chief Administrative Officer.
- b) The Mayor will refer a matter requiring administrative action to the Chief Administrative Officer.
- Administration will generally channel communication to Council through the Chief Administrative Officer.
- d) Council will provide direction to Administration, including report requests, through clear resolution of Council.
- e) In instances where Councillors need access to information to assist them in making informed decisions, Council may make a direct information request of Administration with the following understanding:



- Routine information, facts, and documents which are readily available to the public can be requested from a Department Head directly. The information provided shall be shared with all of Council.
- ii) Requests for non-routine information or information which is not readily available, is sensitive, or requires interpretation of City policies or procedures should be directed to the Chief Administrative Officer.
- f) Where in the opinion of the Administration, the preparation of the information requested by a member of Council will create a significant impact on performance/workload, the Chief Administrative Officer will advise the member of Council that a motion from all of Council to action the request is required.

Organizational Tools

The following organizational tools contribute to a successful working relationship between Council and Administration:

- Regular reports to Council regarding Administration's activities provided by the Chief Administrative Officer.
- b) Clear and concise Council reports, from Administration signed off by the Chief Administrative Officer, that provide the necessary information required for decision-making or that keep Council informed of pertinent issues.
- c) Clear and concise direction to Administration through resolutions made at Council meetings.
- Updates from the Mayor and Councillors at Regular Council meetings.
- e) A clear understanding of Administration's role, activities, and capacity.
- f) A Council Procedure Bylaw which provides the framework for parliamentary procedure, current legislation, and the specific governance preferences of Council.
- g) A corporate business planning and budgeting process which implements the strategic direction set by Council.

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF WHITE ROCK



15322 BUENA VISTA AVENUE, WHITE ROCK, B.C. V4B 1Y6

POLICY TITLE: CODE OF CONDUCT FOR COMMITTEE MEMBERS
POLICY NUMBER: COUNCIL - 120

Date of Council Adoption: November 15, 2010	Date of Last Amendment: June 15, 2015
Council Resolution Number: 2010-501, 2013-	Historical Changes (Amends, Repeals or
082, 2015-214	Replaces): Housekeeping amendments
Originating Department: Administration	Date last reviewed by the Governance and
	Legislation Committee: May 25, 2015

Policy:

Committee Member (Members) means an individual that has been appointed by Council to serve on a City Committee.

- a) Members shall conduct themselves at all times with behaviour respectful of their duties and mindful always of the long term results achieved for the benefit and protection of City of White Rock citizens.
- b) Conduct of members in the performance of their duties shall be fair, open, honest and in a professional manner.
- c) Members shall refrain from abusive conduct, personal charges or verbal attacks upon the character or motives of other Committee members, staff, members of the public, members of Council and guests at the meeting
- d) Committee members are entitled to make comments expressing their opinions regarding matters before the committee or Council as long as such statements clearly state they are putting forward personal views and not those of the committee or Council. Committee members should not criticize the conduct of the committee or members of Council, who are often assigned as representatives to the City's committees. It is acceptable to publicly disagree about an issue, but it is unacceptable to make derogatory comments about other committee members, staff, members of the public, members of Council, the City of White Rock in general and guests at the meeting with regards to their opinions or actions.

When concern has been raised that a member is not adhering to the above, the Chief Administrative Officer will meet with the committee member and if there is not an expected improvement in behaviour, information will be brought before Council by the Chief Administrative Officer or City Clerk, in a closed meeting, and considered.

Council has the authority to remove a member appointment when they determine actions have contravened this policy.

Council Policy #120 – Code of Conduct for Committee Members Page 2 of 2

Rationale:

A common goal of members of Council, staff, and members of City committees is to inspire public confidence and trust in local government. Members are ambassadors for the City of White Rock. Due to their affiliation with the City it is important they demonstrate their respect for the City, its residents, those elected to run the city and its staff.